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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

       : 
RENEE E. McCOY, STUART SCHARFMAN  : 
and JOSEPH J. TABACCO individually and on  
behalf of, all others similarly situated,             :   Docket No. 03 cv 1801 (FSH) (PS) 

   : 
       :  
  Plaintiffs,    : 
       : SECOND AMENDED 
 -against-     : CLASS COMPLAINT 
       :  
         
HEALTH NET, INC., HEALTH NET OF  : JURY TRIAL FOR ALL 
THE NORTHEAST, INC., HEALTH  : CLAIMS SO TRIABLE 
NET OF NEW JERSEY, INC., HEALTH NET  : 
OF NEW YORK, INC., HEALTH NET LIFE  : 
INSURANCE CO. and HEALTH NET OF   : 
CALIFORNIA, INC.     : 
       : 
  Defendants.    : 
 

 Plaintiffs Renee E. McCoy, residing in Bergen County, New Jersey, Stuart Scharfman, 

residing in Great Neck, New York, and Joseph J. Tabacco, residing in San Mateo County, 

California (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), allege upon personal knowledge as to themselves and their 

own acts, and upon information and belief as to all other matters, based upon, inter alia, the 

investigation made by and through their attorneys, the allegations which appear below. 
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THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiffs are in group health plans insured by Health Net Defendants, and allege 

that they have not received the health insurance benefits to which they are entitled.  Specifically, 

they allege that Health Net defendants have underpaid them for out-of-network medical and 

surgical services.  Plaintiff McCoy is an employee of Pascack Valley Hospital and a beneficiary 

of a group health plan in New Jersey.  Plaintiff Stuart Scharfman is employed as a physical 

therapist and is a beneficiary of a fully insured group health plan in New York.   Plaintiff 

Tabacco is a partner at Berman DeValerio Pease Tabacco Burt & Pucillo and a beneficiary of a 

fully insured group health plan in California.  Defendant Health Net, Inc. (“HNI”) in tandem 

with its state licensed health plans (such as Health Net of New Jersey, Inc. (“HNNJ”), Health 

Net of New York, Inc. (“HNNY”), Health Net Insurance of New York, Inc. (“HNINY”), Health 

Net of Connecticut (“HNCONN”), Health Net of Arizona (“HNAZ”), Health Net of Oregon 

(“HNORE”) and Health Net of California, Inc. (“HNCA”)) insure and administer Plaintiffs’ 

benefits.  Defendant Health Net Life Insurance Company (“HNL”) underwrites many of 

Defendants’ health plans (including those of Plaintiffs Scharfman and Tabacco).   Defendant 

Health Net of the Northeast, Inc. (“HNNE”) is the parent company of HNNY, HNINY, HNNJ 

and HNCONN, and issued many of the reimbursement rules Plaintiffs challenge herein.  All of 

the Health Net defendants (collectively, “Health Net”) function as fiduciaries to Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class they represent.   

2.  Plaintiffs are current Health Net beneficiaries who have been under-reimbursed 

by Health Net for care from out-of-network (“ONET”) providers.  The Class they represent 

includes Health Net beneficiaries nationwide who have received less reimbursement than they 
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were contractually entitled to receive since April 1997 for out-of-network services.  Although 

Plaintiffs are and were contractually entitled to choose care from ONET providers, Health Net 

inhibits the use of ONET providers, including by lowering reimbursement and increasing unpaid 

amounts for which the beneficiary is liable.   

3. HNI (formerly known as Foundation Health Service, Inc. or “FHS”) is a health 

care insurance company incorporated in Delaware and has a principal place of business in 

Connecticut.  HNI insures, issues and administers health care plans through its wholly owned 

and controlled subsidiaries, including HNNE, HNNJ, HNNY, HNCONN; HNAZ, HNCA, 

HNORE, HNL, MHN and others.  Health Net of California renders EOBs and determines 

appeals for beneficiaries, including Plaintiff Tabacco and is a fiduciary by virtue of its direct 

contract with him and other beneficiaries.  HNI subsidiary MHN determines mental health 

reimbursements for all Health Net beneficiaries nationwide, while HNI subsidiary Health Net 

Pharmaceutical Services determines pharmacy claims for Health Net beneficiaries nationwide.  

The Health Net defendants and subsidiaries referred to herein, as well as other health care 

subsidiaries owned and controlled by HNI, are so intertwined and interrelated that they are all 

subject to the relief sought by this Complaint.  Due to the manner in which they function in the 

operation and administration of the Health Net plans, all of the Health Net defendants herein are 

fiduciaries under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). 

4. Each of Health Net’s health care plans allow beneficiaries to receive health care 

services either from providers who have contracted with Health Net to provide services at 

discounted rates (“in-network,” or “INET,” providers) or to use non-contracted providers (“out-

of-network,” or “ONET,” providers).  For some plans, such as Point of Service (“POS”) or 
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Preferred Provider Organizations (“PPO”), beneficiaries have an express right to use ONET 

providers at any time.  For other plans, including Health Maintenance Organization plans, 

(“HMO”), beneficiaries can use ONET providers in emergencies, in out of the area, or when no 

INET provider is qualified.  In either event, when beneficiaries use ONET services, Health Net 

reimburses the ONET providers based on the lesser of the billed charge or usual, customary and 

reasonable (“UCR”) charge. 

5. For ONET services, UCR is called the “allowed charge.”  The beneficiary is 

liable for any difference between the allowed charge and billed charge for ONET services.  

Health Net makes clear in communications with beneficiaries, including call centers, that the 

beneficiary is liable for the difference between UCR and the billed charge. 

6.  Health Net plan documents including the contract of insurance known as the 

Evidence of Coverage (EOC) provide that beneficiaries are liable for all unpaid amounts above 

UCR.  The following examples are illustrative.  Mr. Tabacco’s California group health plan 

states: 

Since the Out-of-Network Provider has not agreed to accept the 
Customary and Reasonable charge as payment in full, the amount 
billed by the Out-of Network Provider may exceed the Customary 
and Reasonable charge.  You will need to pay that excess amount, 
in addition to my applicable deductible(s), co-payments or 
coinsurance payment required. 

*   *   * 

You are financially responsible for any amounts these providers 
charge in excess of Customary and Reasonable Charge. 

The HNNY EOC states that the beneficiary is “responsible for the difference between the 

physician’s or provider’s billed amount and the UCR.”   
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7. Through this action, Plaintiffs are challenging on their own behalf and on behalf 

of a Class of similarly situated beneficiaries Health Net’s improper practices of reducing ONET 

reimbursement below billed charges in a manner which conflicts with the terms of Health Net’s 

group health plans and in violation of its obligations under ERISA. 

8. In making certain UCR determinations, Health Net relies on one of two databases 

owned and operated by an independent third party, Ingenix, Inc.  These databases are known as 

the Prevailing Healthcare Charges System (“PHCS”) and MDR (derived from “Medical Data 

Research”) (collectively, “Ingenix Databases”).  In 1998, Ingenix purchased the PHCS database 

from the Health Insurance Association of America (“HIAA”).  As a result, the PHCS database is 

sometimes referred to by Health Net as “HIAA.”  PHCS is purportedly designed to collect and 

report actual charge data by providers for health care services, from which UCR rates can be 

determined, while MDR extrapolates derived charges to set UCR rates for each health care 

service or procedure code. PHCS also includes derived charges for procedures with insufficient 

charge data. 

9. Both Ingenix Databases are based on the same underlying charge data acquired 

and manipulated by Ingenix.  The Ingenix Databases are inherently flawed and invalid, and are 

an  inadequate and improper basis for UCR determinations. 

10. Health Net has breached its fiduciary duties under ERISA by using the Ingenix 

Databases to make UCR determinations even though it does not have access to the underlying 

data or methodology used to create those databases and has no ability to review, evaluate or 

determine their validity for the purpose of making UCR determinations and has not in fact made 
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such review or evaluations.  Health Net has improperly delegated its responsibilities for ensuring 

accurate reimbursement in violation of ERISA. 

11. Ingenix Databases are updated on a semi-annual cycle, thereby providing 

updated, and other increased amounts.  Plaintiffs further allege that during substantial portions of 

the Class Period, as defined below, Health Net has used outdated versions of the Ingenix 

databases (“Outdated Data”) for making UCR determinations for many of its beneficiaries.  

Among other things, Plaintiffs seek to restrain and enjoin Health Net’s use of Outdated Data to 

make UCR determinations and to reimburse beneficiaries who have received reduced 

reimbursements as a result of Outdated Data.   

12. Plaintiffs seek to restrain and enjoin Health Net from relying on ONET 

reimbursement rules (including UCR) to make adverse benefit determinations (“ABDs”).  

According to Health Net, ABD is an ERISA term meaning a decision to deny, reduce, terminate 

or not pay for all or part of a benefit  “ONET ABDs” refer to ABDs for ONET services, and are 

the substance of Plaintiff’s challenge.  ONET ABDs act as exclusions from coverage.  Health 

Net, as the drafter of the insurance plans, has the burden to justify its exclusion of benefits.  

13. As shown herein, Health Net made ONET ABDs as to Plaintiffs and its other 

beneficiaries without contractual authorization and without adequate disclosure. 

14. Plaintiffs seek payment of unpaid amounts caused by Health Net’s ONET ABDs, 

together with interest dating from the date of the original ONET ABD and other appropriate 

equitable relief to remedy Health Net’s breach of its health care contracts and violation of its 

fiduciary duties under ERISA, including its removal as a fiduciary and other steps to protect the 

interests of Health Net beneficiaries. 
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JURSIDICTION AND VENUE

15. The rights and duties of insurance companies and beneficiaries of employer 

sponsored health care plans are governed by the Employee Retirement Insurance Security Act of 

1974 (“ERISA”) § 502, 29 U.S.C. § 1132.  Plaintiffs assert jurisdiction in the federal courts 

under ERISA § 502(e), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e). 

16. Venue is appropriately established in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because 

Health Net conducts a substantial amount of business in this district and insures and administers 

group health plans both inside and outside this State, including from an office located in 

Monmouth County, New Jersey.  Plaintiff McCoy resides in Bergen County, New Jersey and a 

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here. 

17. Venue  in this Court is appropriate under ERISA. 

Ms. McCoy’s Group Plan

18. Ms. McCoy, a nurse, contributes to the monthly premium amount paid to Health 

Net by her employer, Pascack Valley Hospital.  Pascack Valley Hospital is considered a “large 

employer” under New Jersey law.  Ms. McCoy was the original plaintiff to this action 

commenced in April of 2003. 

19. The health plan specifically allows beneficiaries, such as Ms. McCoy, to obtain 

medical services from ONET providers. 

20. Ms. McCoy sought treatment from ONET providers beginning in February of 

2002, when she was diagnosed with breast cancer.  She chose to obtain treatment at a cancer 

institute, Memorial Sloan Kettering, (ONET) based on her experience as a nurse and on her own 

experience caring for family members who suffered from cancer. 
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21. Ms. McCoy is an ERISA beneficiary and must be provided with a SPD under 

federal law. 

22. Health Net produced and distributed a Summary of Benefits to Ms. McCoy and 

other beneficiaries.  Health Net knew that Pascack Valley Hospital, Ms. McCoy’s employer, had 

not produced an SPD.  Health Net’s Summary of Benefits functions as an SPD.  Health Net 

never communicated to Pascack Valley Hospital or Ms. McCoy that its Summary of Benefits 

was not the legally required SPD.   

23. Ms. McCoy’s SPD provides that Ms. McCoy pays 20% of incurred charges for 

certain services while Health Net pays 80% of  incurred charges.  The “fee schedule” referred to 

on Ms. McCoy’s SPD is not attached or otherwise defined or explained by Health Net. 

24. Ms. McCoy’s SPD does not mention UCR. 

25. Ms. McCoy’s Evidence of Coverage (“EOC”) does not mention UCR except in 

the “Non-Covered Services and Supplies” section and in the Definitions section. 

26. There is no definition of “fee schedule” in Ms. McCoy’s SPD or EOC. 

27. Ms. McCoy’s EOC authorizes the use of UCR only in the case of a medical 

emergency. 

28. Ms. McCoy’s EOC defines UCR as follows: 

An amount that is not more than the usual or customary charge for 
the service or supply as we determine based on a standard 
approved by a separate entity.  We are currently utilizing a 
standard set forth by the Board of Directors of the New Jersey 
Small Employers Health Benefits Program.  No matter what 
standard we choose, the chosen standard is an amount which is 
most often charged for a given service by a Provider within the 
geographic area (emphasis added). 
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29. The “separate entity” referred to in Ms. McCoy’s EOC was HIAA and Ingenix 

following its acquisition of HIAA in October 1998. 

30. Plaintiff McCoy has received many ONET ABDs from Health Net related to her 

cancer treatment since February 2002. 

31. Health Net’s ONET ABDs  have caused Ms. McCoy to incur liability for many 

thousands of dollars. 

32. Many of Ms. McCoy’s ONET ABDs have involved UCR or multiple surgical 

reductions (“MSR”).   

33. Health Net increased Plaintiff McCoy’s out of pocket expenses by failing to 

properly calculate her out-of-pocket (“OOP”) maximum, such that she had to continue paying 

20% coinsurance for ONET care even after she exceeded the OOP maximum of $2,500. Above 

$2,500, she should have had zero coinsurance obligation and Health Net should have paid 100% 

coinsurance.  Instead, Health Net erroneously continued to assess Ms. McCoy with a 20% 

coinsurance obligation in excess of the applicable $2,500 OOP limit, rather than assuming 100% 

coinsurance liability.  

34. Health Net failed to adhere to the specific provisions of Ms. McCoy’s EOC and 

SPD, including those relating to benefits and OOP maximums.  Health Net’s substantive and 

procedural violations have harmed Ms. McCoy.   

35.  Health Net has engaged in intentional and systematic violations of New Jersey 

law, such as requiring POS beneficiaries to preauthorize ONET services when New Jersey law 

specifically precludes any preauthorization (or other obstacle) to ONET services. 
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36. Health Net also intentionally and systematically violated other New Jersey laws, 

such as regarding ER and payment of a proper screening rate.  Health Net deemed the 

beneficiary’s co-payment amount to be the “screening rate” required by law, without disclosure 

and in violation of law. 

Mr. Scharfman’s Group Plan

37.  Stuart Scharfman is a physical therapist at Stuart Scharfman Physical Therapist, 

P.C.  As its owner, Stuart Scharfman purchases group health insurance from Health Net for 

himself, and his three employees.  They have had Health Net insurance since at least 1999. 

38. The group health plan for Stuart Scharfman Physical Therapist, P.C. is a fully 

insured plan governed by ERISA.  The Scharfmans’ insurer is Health Net of New York, Inc. 

(“HNNY”). 

39. Stuart Scharfman’s group health plan permits him, his wife and their minor son 

Spenser, to choose ONET doctors for care. 

40. Spenser Scharfman is a 16 year old boy who was diagnosed with a brain stem 

tumor when he was a toddler.  The tumor persists and he has had many brain tumor surgeries and 

requires extensive ongoing treatment.  Spenser Scharfman is a quadriplegic.  He has severe 

respiratory ailments, such as recurrent pneumonia, chronic aspiration syndrome, poor airway 

clearance, chronic bacterial bronchitis, hypoxemia and right vocal cord paralysis secondary to 

his brain stem tumor.  He requires home nursing in addition to the extensive care he receives 

from his mother and father.  He requires intensive daily interventions, including a feeding tube, a 

“coughulator”, and chest percussion and suctioning. 
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41. Spenser Scharfman lives at home with his parents and attends a school for 

children with special needs.  He is an intelligent boy who understands his condition and the 

limitations it places on him. 

42. Some of the doctors treating Spenser Scharfman have treated him for his entire 

life.  Such doctors (and their knowledge of Spenser’s condition over time) are particularly 

critical for a severely ill boy like Spenser.  

43. The Scharfmans believe medical care rendered by doctors with an extensive 

background treating Spenser can provided qualitatively different and better care than doctors 

without such experience. 

44. Many of the doctors who have treated Spenser from the onset of his cancer are 

considered ONET by Health Net. 

45. Health Net has made numerous ONET ABDs for Spenser Scharfman’s care, 

involving UCR, MSR, assistant and co-surgeon reductions, max units, reimbursement by third 

party vendors, use of INET rates and percentage of billed charges among others. 

46.      The EOBs sent to the Scharfmans by both Health Net and MHN, HNI’s 

subsidiary, are deficient.  They fail to provide the specific reasons for the denial, appeal 

information, and other required information.  The Scharfmans have received non-compliant 

EOBs on numerous occasions. 

47. Stuart Scharfman’s appeals to Health Net have been unsuccessful and are futile.  

Mr. Tabacco’s Group Plan

48. Mr. Tabacco, an attorney, contributes to the monthly premium amount paid to 

Health Net by his law firm, Berman DeValerio Pease Tabacco Burt & Pucillo, P.C.  
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49.      Mr. Tabacco’s group health plan is a Participatory Provider Organization (“PPO”) 

which allows Mr. Tabacco to chose to obtain ONET services.  

50.       Mr. Tabacco’s group plan is underwritten by Health Net Life Insurance Co. 

(“HNL”) and he has received EOBs from Health Net of California (“HNCA”).  Both HNL and 

HNCA function as fiduciaries to Mr. Tabacco and other California beneficiaries. 

51. Health Net plan documents for Mr. Tabacco provide: 

“You may stay in-network and receive maximum benefits, or go 
out-of-network and be subject to deductible, coinsurance, usual, 
customary and reasonable (UCR) charge limitations, and claim 
forms.” 

"Customary and Reasonable charge, as determined by HNL 
[Health Net Life Insurance Company], is a charge that falls within 
the common range of fees billed by a majority of Physicians for a 
procedure in a given geographic region, or that is justified based 
on the complexity or the severity of the treatment for a specific 
area." 

52. On a number of occasions when Mr. Tabacco received ONET services, Health 

Net has made ONET ABDs based, inter alia, on UCR.  In such circumstances, Mr. Tabacco has 

received EOBs which use Explanatory Code 30 to “explain” the reduction. Health Net 

Explanatory Code 30 states: 

Amount exceeds the usual, customary and reasonable (UC&R) rate 
allowed under this plan. 

53. Mr. Tabacco has sought treatment from ONET providers, including in March 

2004, when he needed knee surgery.  He chose his ONET providers based on their experience 

and training as best qualified to provide the health care services he needed. 

54. In or around July 2004, Mr. Tabacco filed an appeal with Health Net concerning 

the March 24 ONET ABD and specifically demanded a written explanation concerning the UCR 
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reductions.  By letter dated July 30, 2004, Mr. Tabacco received the following denial from 

HNCA: 

This letter is in response to your request for written information 
concerning the following issue: Customary and Reasonable 
Charge. 

Your Evidence of Coverage defines Customary and Reasonable 
Charge as follows: 

As determined by HNL (Health Net Life Insurance Company), is a 
charge that falls within the common range of fees billed by a 
majority of physicians for a procedure in a given geographic 
region, or that is justified based on the complexity or the severity 
of the treatment for a specific case. 

55. Health Net failed to advise Mr. Tabacco of any further appeal rights, in violation 

of federal and state law.   

56. As detailed herein, Health Net provided false and misleading information to Mr. 

Tabacco and other beneficiaries about Health Net’s ONET ABDs. 

57. For example, Health Net fails to disclose that the Ingenix Databases relied on by 

Health Net do not capture fees “billed by a majority of physicians” or “the complexity or the 

severity of treatment for a specific case.”  Health Net also failed to disclose that the Ingenix data 

does not convey the charges of a majority of physicians or a procedure’s complexity or a 

patient’s severity.  

58. Mr. Tabacco’s ONET out-of-pocket (“OOP”) maximum is $4,000 annually.  Only 

amounts considered by Health Net to be within UCR count towards his OOP maximum.  Had 

Health Net properly considered his provider’s charges to be within UCR, he would have satisfied 

his ONET OOP maximum sooner. 
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59. As an ERISA beneficiary, Mr. Tabacco is entitled to an SPD under federal law. 

He has never received an SPD from Health Net that complies with ERISA. 

60. Health Net did not advise Mr. Tabacco or any of the other beneficiaries in his 

plan that its benefits summary was not an SPD or that the employer was required to prepare an 

SPD.  

Health Net’s Fiduciary Obligations Under ERISA 

61. All of the defendants are fiduciaries for Plaintiffs and the Class. 

62. HNI is the parent.  HNI employs many of the personnel in offices of Health Net 

health plans and subsidiaries (including the other Health Net defendants  to this action) 

(collectively, “HNI Subsidiaries”).  Such personnel are hired, directed, controlled, evaluated and 

fired by HNI management.  HNI employees work in many departments within HNI Subsidiaries, 

such as operations, finance, information technology, sales and marketing, legal audits and 

compliance, medical management, human resources and others.  Many HNI employees work at 

HNNE, HNNY, HNNJ,  HNCA and other subsidiaries. 

63. Many HNI executives also function as executives and officers for HNI 

Subsidiaries and exercise management and control and functions as a fiduciary.  As just one 

example, a HNI Executive Vice President is contemporaneously acting president of HNNE and 

President of HNNJ, HNNY, HNINY and HNCONN. 

64. HNI Operations employees determine claims reimbursement policies, including 

ONET ABDs.  HNI knows of and approves the reimbursement rules underlying the ONET 

ABDs made by HNI Subsidiaries. 
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65. HNI exercises management over the administration of Health Net’s health plans.  

HNI controls and manages HNI Subsidiaries. 

66. HNI audits the claims determinations made by HNI Subsidiaries and produces 

audit reports reflecting HNI’s control and management. 

67. HNI credits itself with hundreds of millions of dollars for the services it provides 

to HNI Subsidiaries. 

68. HNI’s authority to manage and control the HNI Subsidiaries derives in part from 

Administrative Services Agreements (“ASAs”).  These ASAs date back to at least 1996. 

69. Health Net is obligated to adhere to the specific provisions of a group health plan, 

including Plaintiffs’ group health plans, under ERISA and federal common law. 

70. Health Net may not apply any ONET ABDs if they are not authorized in a 

beneficiary’s EOC and SPD. 

71. As an ERISA fiduciary, Health Net is obligated to tell beneficiaries that they may 

be members of a certified class challenging ONET ABDs, particularly if they are appealing 

ONET ABDs.   

72. As a fiduciary, Health Net is obligated to tell beneficiaries about the state law 

requirements affecting their entitlement, which Health Net routinely and systematically fails to 

do.  

73. As an ERISA fiduciary, Health Net is obligated to fully inform beneficiaries of 

material facts related to their benefits and must comply with federal regulations governing 

claims procedures both as to initial claim denials and appeals. 
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74. Health Net’s EOBs fail to explain sufficiently, if at all, the basis for its ONET 

ABDs and fail to cite the plan provisions Health Net relies upon in making its adverse decisions. 

75. Health Net fails to use valid data to make UCR determinations; provide the data 

as required; and advise Plaintiffs that it relied on invalid data in determining UCR. 

76. Health Net fails to provide a “full and fair review” to Plaintiffs and other 

beneficiaries, such that Health Net’s appeals process violates federal law. 

77. Health Net fails to advise its beneficiaries, as required, of their appeal rights. 

78. Health Net has instructed its claims personnel in accord with its policy that “UCR 

issues virtually never get overturned . . .a member would need to submit an impossible number 

of claims to show that our data is not appropriate.” 

79. As set forth herein, Plaintiffs challenge Health Net’s systemic application of rules 

and policies in making ONET ABDs that are not authorized by beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs; 

its systematic violation of its fiduciary duties; and its routine failure to comply with ERISA, 

federal claims procedure regulations, federal common law and state law. 

UCR AND THE INGENIX DATABASES 

80. Health Net relies on the Ingenix Databases to make UCR determinations.  The 

PHCS database is based on data acquired by Ingenix from contributing companies, including 

numerous health insurers.  The MDR database is based on the same data, referred to herein  as 

“Ingenix data or Ingenix Databases.” 

81. Health Net purchases Ingenix data from Ingenix Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary 

of United HealthCare Group, loads the data onto its internal claims platforms, which claims 

processors access automatically in a process called auto-adjudication. 
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82. Ingenix Inc. produces two cycles of Ingenix data  a year which include medical, 

surgical, anesthesia, and Health Care Financing Administration common procedure coding 

system services (“HCPCS”).  HCPCS includes pharmaceuticals, injections, blood, medical 

equipment, ambulance transport, medical screenings and the like. 

83. The Ingenix data is not valid or reliable for determining UCR. 

84. Ingenix Inc. informed its data users (such as Health Net) that it was not endorsing, 

approving or recommending the use of Ingenix data for UCR.  Ingenix data is produced with the 

following disclaimer: 

The Ingenix Data, whether charge data or conversion factor data, 
are provided to subscribers for informational purposes only.  
Ingenix, Inc. disclaims any endorsements, approval, or 
recommendation or particular uses of the data.  There is neither a 
stated nor an implied ‘reasonable and customary’ charge (either 
actual or derived) . . . . Any interpretation and/or use of the data by 
the subscriber is sole[ly] and exclusively at the discretion of the 
subscriber.” 

Ingenix Inc. also informed data users (including Health Net) that they cannot “represent” the 

Ingenix Data other than as described in the disclaimer.   

85. The conversion factor data referred to in the disclaimer is often referred to as 

“derived” data, whereas charge data is often referred to as “actual” data.  For any medical or 

surgical service for which Ingenix data ends up with fewer than nine charges, Ingenix Inc. 

creates a derived charge, using relative values and conversion factors. 

86. Ingenix Inc. determines derived charges for the majority of medical and surgical 

services nationwide. 

87. Health Net was aware of the disclaimer but failed to advise its beneficiaries of the 

disclaimer and represented the Ingenix data inconsistently with the disclaimer. 
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88. Health Net has not asked Ingenix to review the methodology or the Ingenix data 

and has not conducted such a review.  It applies the Ingenix data blindly to auto-adjudicate UCR. 

89. There are a number of flaws in Ingenix data which make it an inappropriate basis 

to determine UCR or comply with the contractual definition of UCR, including, inter alia: 

  a.  Ingenix Inc. is a private for profit company and is not independent or an 
“outside agency” as Health Net represents it to be; 

  b.  Ingenix Inc. does not verify or audit the charges it includes in the database 
for accuracy, comprehensiveness, or otherwise; 

  c.  Ingenix data contributors contribute incomplete data and use formulas to 
pre-edit their existing data; 

  d.  The Ingenix data contributions have unacceptably high error rates; 

  e.  The Ingenix Database does not collect or contain a provider’s identity and 
therefore cannot factor in or consider a provider’s qualifications, specialty, 
training or experience; 

  f.  The Ingenix data cannot identify the universe of providers in any 
geographic area or how many different providers’ data has been included; 

g. The Ingenix data cannot identify “ . . . an amount which is most often 
charged for a given service by a Provider within the same geographic 

   area.” 

h. The Ingenix data cannot determine whether “…a charge falls within the 
common range of fees billed by a majority of physicians for a procedure in 
a given geographic region….”  The Ingenix data cannot assess what the 
“majority” of providers charge for any procedure. 

i. The Ingenix data cannot determine whether “…a charge…is justified 
based on the complexity or severity of the treatment for a specific case….” 

  j.  The Ingenix data includes the charges of non M.D. providers and fails to 
differentiate between charges from M.Ds and charges from non M.Ds; 

  k  The Ingenix data combines geographic areas using the first three digits of 
the postal zip code (which does not constitute a medical service area) ten 
aggregate the three-digit areas resulting in combined locations with 
disparate economic characteristics and different charging patterns; 
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  l.  The Ingenix data edits the data using “USA means” and other national 
norms that are not geographic-specific; 

  m.  The Ingenix data ignores modifiers and otherwise fails to account for 
unusual circumstances or complexity; 

  n.  The Ingenix data does not consider the specific services rendered; 

  o.  The Ingenix data edits eliminate a number of charges for being “too high”; 

  p.  The Ingenix Database is systematically manipulated and skewed 
downward; 

q. The Ingenix Database is a secret database labeled “proprietary and 
confidential;” and 

r. The Ingenix data is  not disclosed to beneficiaries who are not permitted to  
see or learn the methodology or the underlying data or be informed of 
learn the database flaws. 

90. By systematically making UCR determinations without valid or credible data to 

substantiate such lesser amounts, Health Net has violated its obligation to comply with EOCs 

and SPDs upon which beneficiaries are entitled to rely. 

91. The language used to define UCR differs somewhat across Health Net’s various 

EOCs and SPDs.  While the wording used to define UCR may vary, the meaning as interpreted 

and applied by Health Net, is the same.  

92.       Under the fee hierarchy Health Net has established for most of its health plans, 

Health Net uses an in-network fee schedule if Ingenix data is unavailable; if the procedure 

cannot be located in such schedule, then Health Net pays at 35% of billed charges. 

93.        In Health Net’s California plans, Health Net uses MDR data, and relative value 

data.  At times, without disclosure, Health Net reimburses beneficiaries in California using the 

Medicare fee schedule. 
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94.        Health Net’s Arizona plans reimburse beneficiaries using the Medicare fee 

schedule. 

95.        Health Net does not adequately disclose its use of various fee hierarchies, fee 

schedules, use of Medicare, and percentage of billed charges.  

Additional Undisclosed and Unauthorized ABDs 

96. In addition to UCR reductions, Health Net automatically reduces coverage for 

multiple procedure codes billed on the same day or during the same session, even when the 

procedure codes are part of a single surgery.  By so doing, Health Net’s UCR determinations 

dramatically reduce amounts for additional procedure codes in violation of beneficiaries’ EOCs 

and SPDs.   

97.       Health Net misrepresents MSR mandated by the AMA when the AMA has made 

no such requirement in the CPT Guidebook, which it publishes.  Health Net misrepresents that 

the AMA has endorsed its MSR policy of reducing reimbursement to 50%, then 25%, when the 

AMA has never approved of such reductions. 

98.       Health Net’s misrepresentation about the AMA’s approval of its MSR policy was 

misleading to beneficiaries. 

99. Health Net reduces reimbursement for ONET services in numerous other 

significant ways, such as reduced reimbursement for ER services for drugs by using methods 

such as AWP; assistant and co-surgeons; paying ONET providers INET fees or percentage of 

billed charges; reducing reimbursement to ONET hospital based providers; applying max units 

and global fees; technical/professional splits; denying reimbursement based on place of service 

or timely filing requests; Health Net’s practices are undisclosed and contractually unauthorized. 

Case 2:03-cv-01801-FSH-PS     Document 119      Filed 01/10/2005     Page 20 of 48



    21

Health Net’s Unlawful Use of Outdated Data 

100. Beginning on June 7, 1999, Health Net reduced its reimbursement for HCPCS 

codes paid to ONET providers. 

101. Prior to June 7, 1999, Health Net paid HCPCS codes for ONET at their billed 

charges. 

102. Starting  June 7, 1999, Health Net decided it would no longer pay billed charges 

for HCPCS but would instead pay using 1998 Ingenix data. 

103. Health Net did not disclose to beneficiaries that it was reducing reimbursement 

for HCPCS services and supplies by ONET providers, or that it would pay for HCPCS codes in 

June of 1999 and beyond using the1998 Ingenix Data (“Outdated Data”).  

104. In July of 2001, Health Net published a claim guideline continuing its use of 

Outdated Databases.  Health Net’s July 2001 guidelines (referred to as “Operations Alert”) 

instructed that certain ONET services would be paid at either an INET fee schedule amount or at 

35% of the billed charge. 

105. Health Net also used Outdated Data to reimburse medical, surgical, anesthesia, 

and all other services in 1999 and 2000. 

106. Health Net’s use of Outdated Data for HCPCS codes beginning in June of 1999, 

and as to all codes beginning in July of 2001, reduced UCR reimbursement for many 

beneficiaries compared to more current PHCS Data. 

107. Health Net did not disclose its use of Outdated Data to beneficiaries or to 

employers..  
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108. Health Net affirmatively misrepresented its use of Outdated Data in EOBs and 

appeals and Customer Service Communications.  Health Net’s beneficiaries were told that prior 

higher UCR determinations represented overpayments. 

109. In June of 2002, the New Jersey Insurance Commissioner began an investigation 

of Health Net and its use of Outdated Data.  Eventually, HNNE’s Chairman of the Board signed 

a Consent Order dated December 23, 2002 (“Consent Order”) in which Health Net admitted to 

its use of Outdated Data to pay claims from on or about July 1, 2001 until October 27, 2002. 

110. In a letter dated December 12, 2002, Health Net falsely advised the New Jersey 

Insurance Commissioner that its use of Outdated Data had commenced in July of 2001, while 

calling its use of  Outdated Data a “business decision” made by its regional management. 

111. The Consent Order did not refer to (or order remediation for) Health Net’s use of 

Outdated Data for New Jersey small employer beneficiaries, dating back to January of 1999. 

112. Health Net did not disclose its use of Outdated Data back to January 1, 1999 to 

the New Jersey Insurance Commissioner nor did it disclose its use of the 70th percentile of HIAA 

data, a separate violation of the New Jersey Regulation (which requires payment at the 80th 

percentile). 

113. Health Net’s restitution to small employer beneficiaries inside New Jersey is 

incomplete.  For example, Health Net failed to pay restitution to NJ small employer beneficiaries 

who were paid using INET fee schedules or paid 35% of the billed charge, or whose ONET 

services involved mental health, chiropractic, lab homehealth, or any of the other services Health 

Net has delegated to vendors. 
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114. Health Net failed to advise the New Jersey Insurance Commissioner about these 

violations of the New Jersey Regulation, which were unremediated by the Consent Order. 

115. Health Net failed to make restitution of any kind to large employer beneficiaries 

inside New Jersey (such as McCoy).  It failed to make any restitution in Connecticut.  While 

Health Net was ordered to make restitution in New York (as to both large and small employer 

beneficiaries), Health Net failed to make complete restitution in New York. 

116. Health Net failed to disclose to beneficiaries the existence of the New Jersey 

Insurance investigation that began in June of 2002, or its use of Outdated Data for HCPCS codes 

as of June 7, 1999 or its use of Outdated Data as to all procedure codes beginning in July of 

2001. 

117. Health Net failed to disclose the existence of the New Jersey Insurance 

investigation that began in June of 2002 to the United States District Court for New Jersey, 

before which the related case of Wachtel v. Guardian Life Ins. Co., 01 Cv. 4183, was pending. 

118. Health Net did not advise the United States District Court about its use of 

Outdated Data to determine UCR, even though its UCR determinations are the precise subject 

matter at issue in Wachtel. 

119. Defendants have also used Outdated Data in making ONET UCR ABDs in plans 

outside of HNNE. 

120. Health Net’s repeated failures to pay appropriate restitution constitutes a breach 

of its fiduciary duties. 

121. Health Net’s systematic misrepresentations to beneficiaries about Outdated Data 

constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties. 
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122. Health Net’s systematic misrepresentations and omissions to State Insurance 

Departments constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties. 

123. Health Net’s misrepresentations and omissions to this Court, including its failure 

to disclose the New Jersey and New York insurance investigations into Outdated Data, constitute 

a breach of its fiduciary duties. 

124. Health Net’s systematic violation of New Jersey Regulation payments for NJ 

small employer beneficiaries constitutes a breach of its fiduciary duties. 

125. Health Net’s compliance with the New Jersey Regulation has not been audited or 

verified by any outside agency or independent entity. 

126. Health Net continues to insist that it should not pay restitution for its use of 

Outdated Data to all of its beneficiaries other than those in small employer plans in New Jersey.   

127. Plaintiffs seek unpaid benefit amounts, and legal and equitable relief for the 

conduct described herein, on their own behalf and on behalf of the proposed Class defined 

below. 

UNDISCLOSED ONET ABDs BASED ON 
A PERCENTAGE OF BILLED CHARGES 

 
128.  Health Net reimbursed certain ONET claims using a percentage of billed charges.  

For example, in HNNE states, Health Net reimbursed ONET claims at 35% of billed charges.  In 

California and Oregon, Health Net reimbursed ONET claims at 75% of billed charges. 

129. Health Net further reduced reimbursement by, for example, applying standard 

reductions such as assistant surgeon (reducing to 20% of UCR), co-surgeon (reducing to 62% of 

UCR), and bilateral (reducing to 50% of UCR) in addition to its reduced payments based on a 

percentage of the billed charge.  If an assistant surgeon billed $1,000 for a surgical procedure in 
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California, for example, Health Net’s reimbursement would be 75% of the billed charge ($750) 

further reduced to 20% of $750 (the assistant surgeon reduction), or $150.  If a surgeon billed 

using the 50 modifier, Health Net would take an additional 50% off of each procedure by also 

applying MSR, e.g. 50% of 50%, 50% of 25%; and so on. 

130. Health Net did not disclose to beneficiaries that reimbursement was based on a 

percentage of the charge or reductions for assistant surgeons, co-surgeons and bilateral or 

multiple surgeries. 

131. Health Net used arbitrary percentages to reimburse services with two 

components, technical and professional.  Health Net reimbursed many radiological procedures 

by applying a 60-40 “split,” that is, reimbursing the technical component at 60% of the 

combined (“global”) fee and the professional component at 40% of the global fee. Health Net did 

not disclose its use of such “splits” to its beneficiaries, even when their reimbursement was by 

the application of such splits.   

THIRD PARTY VENDORS 

132.  Health Net delegates claims determination for various medical services to other 

entities.  These include mental health and substance abuse services to MHN and Value Options, 

Inc. (“VOI”); pharmaceutical services to Health Net Pharmaceutical Services; lab services to 

Quest;  chiropractic and acupuncture services to Landmark; institutional services to Concentra 

and home health services to Access One and CCS, and any other vendors used by Health Net 

(collectively Third Party Vendors). 

133.  The Third Party Vendors (and not Health Net) determine ONET ABDs for Health 

Net beneficiaries. 
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134.  Health Net fails to supervise or otherwise ensure that the Third Party vendors 

comply with beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs as well as state and federal law. 

135. For example, Landmark determined UCR for ONET providers by using its INET 

fee schedule -- a clear violation of beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs. 

136.  Health Net’s failure to supervise or exercise control over the Third Party Vendors 

has resulted in harm to beneficiaries who have received less reimbursement than they were 

entitled to under the EOCs and SPDs.  In addition, beneficiaries have not received required 

information when the Third Party Vendors made ABDs. 

137.  The Third Party Vendors have failed to disclose the data or other reimbursement 

rules they rely on in making ABDs. 

138. The Third Party Vendors provide Health Net beneficiaries with EOBs which fail 

to specify the reasons for ABDs and fail to include other required information, including relating 

to appeals. 

IMPROPER DETERMINATION OF DEDUCTIBLES/OOP MAXIMUMS AND 
FAILURE TO PAY APPROPRIATE INTEREST INCLUDING ON APPEAL 

 
139.  Health Net beneficiaries are financially harmed because Health Net fails to ensure 

proper calculation of deductibles and OOP maximums.  Plaintiff Scharfman and other Health Net 

beneficiaries have been made to satisfy additional deductible amounts by Third Party Vendors 

(such as MHN) even though they have already satisfied the deductible amount under the Health 

Net EOC.  The effect is to penalize beneficiaries by making them satisfy a higher deductible in 

practice than the deductible specified in their EOCs and SPDs. 

140.  Health Net does not ensure proper calculation of beneficiaries’ OOP maximums.  

In practical terms, this means beneficiaries are not relieved of their coinsurance share when they 
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should be as specified by their EOCs and SPDs.  Just as with the deductible amounts, 

beneficiaries are compelled to pay coinsurance amounts above their OOP maximums by Health 

Net or Third Party Vendors. 

141.  In the event a beneficiary’s allowance is increased on appeal or otherwise (such 

as in a broad based restitution), Health Net does not revise the beneficiary’s deductible and/or 

OOP maximums to reflect the additional reimbursement from the appeal or other upward 

revision.  This failure to revise deductibles and OOP maximums, and re-calculate subsequent 

payments, denies beneficiaries the full relief to which they are entitled. 

142.  A simple example will illustrate.  Assume claim A was $200 but the UCR 

resulted in an allowed amount of $160, which was applied to meet a $200 deductible.  When 

claim B is received, the first $40 allowed would be applied to meet the remaining deductible and 

the balance of the claim processed in accordance with applicable coinsurance.  Assuming the 

correct database or data would have allowed claim A for the entire $200 amount, the deductible 

would have been initially satisfied and claim B would have resulted in a $40 greater payment 

(excluding coinsurance).  If such claim is reprocessed, it must reflect the changed conditions 

subsequent to the original processing (e.g., the deductible was met by claim A and claim B 

should have been paid at $40 greater).  If Health Net fails to reprocess in this fashion, it is 

keeping money it is not entitled to, and depriving the beneficiary of money he or she is entitled 

to.   

143.  The same is true of OOP maximums.  If a claim is reprocessed, it must reflect the 

changed conditions subsequent to the original processing, or Health Net will keep money it is not 

entitled to, and the beneficiary will be deprived of money he or she is entitled to.   
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144. Health Net must also pay beneficiaries interest on any reprocessed amounts (such 

as $40 in the example above).  If Health Net does not pay interest on additional amounts that it 

reprocesses, it wrongfully retains the benefit from its erroneous allowance.  It fails to give 

beneficiaries the full relief (e.g., the reimbursement they would have received had the correct 

amount been allowed initially).  

145. Health Net wrongfully fails to pay interest on appeals and in other circumstances, 

as required by state law and ERISA. 

MENTAL HEALTH PARITY VIOLATION 

146.  Health Net places reimbursement limits on ONET mental health that are more 

stringent than those for physical conditions. 

147.  For New Jersey beneficiaries, Health Net allows ONET outpatient mental health 

services at 50% coinsurance, requiring the beneficiary to pay coinsurance of 50% on mental 

health services, while requiring less coinsurance (either 20% or 30%) for physical outpatient 

services.  Health Net’s differentiation in coinsurance for mental health is expressly prohibited by 

state law. 

148.  Health Net limits beneficiaries to 20 mental health outpatient visits per calendar 

year, while placing no such limit on physical health services.  Health Net also requires 

preauthorization for mental health services that it does not require for physical services.  Such 

distinctions are a violation of state mental health parity laws. 

149. Health Net violates Connecticut and other states’ mental health parity laws with 

similar rules. 
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150. Health Net’s Third Party Vendors (including MHN) also reimburse less for 

payments for mental health services than what they would receive for comparable physical 

services, violating mental health parity laws. 

151.  Health Net fails to ensure proper mental health reimbursement by Third Party 

Vendors, such that their reimbursement is often lower than what beneficiaries are entitled to 

under their EOCs and SPDs.   

HEALTH NET’S NON-COMPLIANT EOBs  

152.  An EOB is the method of communication by which the insurance company is 

obligated to advise the beneficiary specifically about his reimbursement, and is intended to 

facilitate a meaningful dialogue between insurer and beneficiary. 

153.  EOBs are a critical means of communicating information beneficiaries are 

entitled to know. 

154.  When an EOB fails to explain to specific reasons for ONET ABDs, the 

beneficiary will be inhibited in exercising his or her appeal rights, and in obtaining rightful 

reimbursement. 

155.  Health Net’s EOBs are generated by a third party vendor and systematically fail 

to apprise beneficiaries of the reasons for ONET ABDs. 

156.  Health Net’s EOBs systematically fail to apprise Health Net beneficiaries about 

how they can challenge ABDs, including the exercise of appeal rights. 

157.  Health Net EOBs have repeatedly been found to violate state law by numerous 

departments of insurance.  Health Net has failed to remedy these violations. 
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158.  The EOBs sent to Plaintiffs about Health Net’s ONET ABDs do not comply with 

state or federal law requirements. 

159.  Plaintiffs have all received EOBs that significantly violate the federal claims 

procedure requirements.  Health Net’s EOBs fail to advise Plaintiffs of the specific reasons for 

the denial, the specific plan provisions, and their appeal rights. Health Net’s EOBs reflecting 

UCR determinations fail to advise Plaintiffs of the data Health Net used to calculate UCR.     

160. Examples of Health Net’s omissions of required disclosure on EOBs include the 

following: 

● Absent or inadequate Remark Codes; 

● The particular fee schedule used to determine UCR; 

● Health Net’s use of a percentage of charges to determine UCR; 

● Inconsistent reference to appeal rights resulting in unequal treatment; 

● Health Net’s use of outdated UCR data to determine UCR; 

● Health Net’s MSR reductions even when all procedure codes are part of the same 

surgical procedure; 

● The precise MSR reductions Health Net uses (e.g. 25 % of UCR for the third 

procedure code); 

● The precise assistant surgeon and co-surgeon reductions (e.g. 20% of UCR and 

62% of UCR) and how it only allows those few CPT codes that appear on a list; 

● Health Net’s use of maximum amounts for particular services or supplies: 

● Health Net’s use of Medicare rules limiting reimbursement but its failure to use 

such rules when they expand reimbursement; 
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● Health Net’s use of Third Party Vendors to determine reimbursement for various 

services (including mental health, pharmaceuticals, chiropractic, vision, lab, home 

health); 

● The reimbursement rules used by such Third Party Vendors to determine 

reimbursement. 

161.  Health Net’s systematic breach of these rules in its ONET ABDs violates state 

and federal law and constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty. 

HEALTH NET’S FAILURE TO PROVIDE 
ACCURATE AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DOCUMENTS 

162.  Health Net is obligated to provide accurate and comprehensive plan documents to 

its beneficiaries, including EOCs and SPDs. 

163.  State law expressly places the obligation on an insurer to provide SPDs to its 

beneficiaries. 

164.  Health Net, in fact, provides EOCs and a plan document it refers to as a Summary 

of Benefits or Schedule of Benefits to its beneficiaries. 

165.  Health Net knows its Summary of Benefits functions as an SPD but is inadequate 

and noncompliant with ERISA and state laws. 

166. Health Net contends in the context of this lawsuit that each employer is 

responsible for preparing an SPD, even in its fully insured plans.   

167. Health Net failed to advise beneficiaries and employers that its Summary of 

Benefits is not an SPD, and failed to ensure that an SPD was prepared. 

168.  Health Net knows the employers lack basic information about Health Net’s 

complex  reimbursement rules which is exclusively in Health Net’s possession, and knows that 
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the lack of such information prevents employers from producing an accurate SPD that complies 

with legal requirements. 

169. Health Net seeks to evade financial liability flowing from its preparation of an 

inadequate and noncompliant SPD by pretending that its Summary of Benefits was not 

functioning as an SPD, and in so doing, systematically breaches its fiduciary duty demonstrating 

it unfitness to continue as a fiduciary.   

EMERGENCY ROOM REIMBURSEMENT 

170.  In all of the states in which Health Net operates, it is obligated to fully reimburse 

beneficiaries for out-of-network emergency services that satisfy a prudent layperson standard 

regardless of the type of insurance plan they have (e.g. POS, PPO, HMO). 

171.  Under the prudent layperson standard, an insurer must pay for ER services, even 

if they subsequently are determined not to constitute an emergency, so long as the beneficiary 

reasonably believed his condition to be emergent at the time he sought ER care.  The standard 

does not consider a medical professional’s diagnostic impression at the time of discharge. 

172.  A diagnosis code designated at the time of discharge cannot be used to deny ER 

care as non-emergent since it fails to account for the prudent layperson standard. 

173.  For many beneficiaries, Health Net denied reimbursement for ER services that 

were emergent. 

174. Health Net EOBs fail to tell beneficiaries that it denied emergency room services 

on the basis of a pre-established diagnosis code list.  Had beneficiaries been advised that such a 

diagnosis code list was used, they would have known a critical basis for an appeal. 
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175.  Health Net used diagnosis codes for its beneficiaries despite state law and 

insurance department policy statements that made it clear that Health Net should not deny ER 

care based on a diagnosis code.  Health Net defied such regulators and breached its fiduciary 

duties to beneficiaries who were never told Health Net denied ER reimbursement based on a 

diagnosis code list. 

176.     Health Net violated other rules regarding ER, such as by making inadequate 

payment for screening examinations, and in other ways.  

APPEALS ARE FUTILE 

177. Health Net’s policy was that since ONET ABDs are contractually based, they will 

not be overturned on appeal. 

178. Health Net instructed its claims personnel to advise beneficiaries that where a 

denial is contractually based, the decision will not be overturned on appeal. 

179. Health Net has acknowledged in internal documents that “UCR issues virtually 

never get overturned . . . [because] a member would need to submit an impossible number of 

claims to show that our data is not appropriate.” 

180. Health Net advised its employees that for UCR a “member [had no] chance that 

his grievance will be overturned . . . .” 

181. The fact that UCR issues virtually never get overturned.. . . “[because] a member 

would need to submit an impossible number of claims. . .” and that a “member [had no] chance” 

renders an appeal of UCR futile. 

182. Health Net delegated appeals to Third Party Vendors without authorization or 

disclosure. 
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183. Health Net gave beneficiaries inadequate information, inhibiting meaningful 

appeals. 

184. Health Net’s appeal policies violate ERISA’s requirement that all beneficiaries be 

treated equally. 

185. Health Net knew that Ingenix data was unsuitable for use to calculate UCR, but 

used it anyway and applied it automatically on appeal. 

186. Health Net discouraged appeals by giving false information about its ONET 

ABDs. 

187. Appeals to Health Net are, and were, futile for other reasons including violation 

of federal claims procedure regulations, non-compliant EOBs resulting in deemed execution. 

188. Plaintiffs and the Class they represent are not required to exhaust remedies to 

challenge Health Net’s conduct, when such conduct was concealed from beneficiaries and when 

Plaintiffs’ claims are based on an alleged breach of fiduciary duty under ERISA. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

The Class 

189. Plaintiffs bring this action on their own behalf and on behalf of a class (“Class”) 

defined as: 

All persons in the United States who are, or were, from April 1997 
to August 2004 subscribers or beneficiaries in any large or small 
employer plan other than in a New Jersey small employer plan, 
who received medical services or supplies (including, inter alia, 
surgery, anesthesia, and the like) from an out-of-network provider 
and for whom Health Net made reimbursement determinations. 

190. Plaintiffs bring ERISA claims against Health Net on their own behalf and on 

behalf of the Class for the following: to recover benefits due Class members under the plan, and 
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to enforce and clarify their rights under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B); and 

to remedy Health Net’s failure to accurately disclose information in plan materials and 

otherwise, and its failure to provide a “full and fair review” of the decisions denying claims 

under ERISA § 503, 29 U.S.C. § 1133.  Further, the Class alleges that Health Net is a fiduciary 

which has violated its fiduciary duties of loyalty and care under ERISA §§ 404(a)(1)(B) and (D), 

and 406, by relying, inter alia, on Ingenix Databases that are invalid for the purpose of 

determining UCR reimbursement by making ONET ABDs that systematically reduced 

reimbursement without disclosure or contractual authority and by failing to provide required data 

and other information to beneficiaries. 

191. Health Net has violated federal claims procedures.  See, e.g., 29 C.F.R. § 

2560.503-1. 

192. Health Net has violated its fiduciary duties of care and loyalty to its beneficiaries 

by using undisclosed reimbursement rules that are unauthorized by a beneficiary’s EOC and 

SPD.  Health Net made misstatements to beneficiaries that were intended to, or did in practice, 

discourage beneficiaries from understanding the basis used in Health Net’s ONET ABDs. 

193. Health Net acted and continues to act as an adversary, not as a fiduciary, to its 

beneficiaries. 

194. Health Net discouraged appeals, by providing insufficient information about its 

ONET ABDs and by failing to tell beneficiaries about their appeal rights.  Health Net has 

systemically violated federal and state law regarding appeals.  

195. Health Net’s systematic failure to pay interest to beneficiaries who successfully 

appeal ONET ABDs is a violation of federal and state law. 
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196. Health Net’s systematic failure to pay interest to beneficiaries in self-insured 

(“ASO”) plans is a violation of federal and state law. 

197. Health Net has made misrepresentations to the court, regulators and beneficiaries 

about its payment of interest. 

The Class Satisfies Legal Requirements 

198. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Upon information and belief, the Class consists of hundreds of thousands of 

employees and their dependents who are participants and beneficiaries in group health plans 

insured, offered or administered by Health Net.  The precise number of members in the Class are 

within Health Net’s custody and control.  Based on reasonable estimates, the numerosity 

requirement of Rule 23 is easily satisfied for the Class. 

199. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class members and predominate 

over any questions affecting solely individual members of the Class, including: whether Health 

Net’s systematically and typically made ONET ABDs reducing reimbursement contrary to 

beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs; whether Health Net violated its contractual and fiduciary duties 

in using the Ingenix Databases to determine UCR; whether Health Net systematically and 

typically failed to provide a “full and fair review” to beneficiaries who received ONET ABDs; 

whether Health Net’s ONET ABDs were unauthorized and on disclosed to beneficiaries; whether 

Health Net failed to pay interest appropriately or fully under federal common law; whether 

Health Net’s EOBs violate federal law; whether Health Net’s delegation to vendors were not 

disclosed to beneficiaries; whether Health Net failed to ensure that its vendors complied with 

beneficiary EOCs and SPDs; whether Health Net’s summary of benefits are the SPD required by 
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federal law; whether Health Net systematically or appropriately failed to remedy known 

violations of law; and whether Health Net systematically and typically violated federal claims 

procedures.  

200. The named Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the Class members 

because, as a result of the conduct alleged herein, Health Net has breached its statutory and  

contractual obligations to Plaintiffs and the Class through and by a uniform pattern or practice as 

described herein. 

201. The named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

members of the Class, are committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action, have retained 

counsel competent and experienced in class litigation and have no interests antagonistic to or in 

conflict with those of the Class.  For these reasons, the named Plaintiffs are adequate class 

representatives. 

202. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the proposed Class 

would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could establish incompatible 

standards of conduct for Health Net as to the Class. 

203. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable.  

Furthermore, because the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively 

small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for the Class members 

individually to redress the harm done to them.  Given the uniform policy and practices at issue, 

there will also be no difficulty in the management of this litigation as a class action. 
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COUNT I 

BREACH OF CONTRACT 
UNDER ERISA § 501(a)(1)(B) 

204. The allegations contained above are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth therein. 

205. Health Net is liable for a breach of its obligations to pay beneficiaries that are 

insured by, funded by or administered by Health Net pursuant to the terms of their group health 

plans.  Because of the deficiencies of the Ingenix databases identified herein, Health Net 

necessarily breached the beneficiaries’ contracts of insurance by using such databases to 

calculate UCR and is liable to beneficiaries whenever Health Net determined UCR based on the 

PHCS data. 

206. Each and every time Health Net calculated UCR using Outdated Data, Health Net 

violated Plaintiffs’ EOCs and SPDs, all of which explicitly or by operation of law prohibit the 

use of Outdated Data to calculate UCR.  In addition, the use of Outdated Data violates ERISA, 

federal regulations and federal common law. 

207. Health Net violated beneficiaries’ contractual rights each time it made ONET 

ABDs (including, inter alia, regarding UCR, multiple surgery, assistant surgeons or co-surgeons, 

AWP; ER; INET rates or payment of a percentage of billed charges; place of service and timely 

filing requirements; max units and global fees; failure to pay interest, improperly calculating 

deductible and out-of-pocket maximums, etc.) that were not specifically authorized by 

tech/professional splits beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs. 

208. Health Net’s lack of disclosure to beneficiaries violates their contractual rights. 
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209. Health Net violated beneficiaries’ contractual rights each time it engaged in 

conduct which discouraged or penalized beneficiaries’ use of ONET providers, such as, inter 

alia, prohibiting payment to providers with assignments from beneficiaries. 

210. Plaintiffs are owed interest back to the date their claim was originally submitted 

for all ONET ABDs that reduced reimbursement not contractually authorized. 

211. Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to monetary damages and/or restitution from 

Health Net, as well as other declaratory and injunctive relief related to enforcement of the plan 

terms, and to clarify future benefits.  In particular, Health Net is liable to Plaintiffs and the Class 

for unpaid benefits, recalculated deductible and coinsurance amounts, interest, attorneys’ fees, 

and other penalties as this Court deems just, under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 

1132(a)(1)(B).  In addition, Plaintiffs and the Class seek counsel fees, costs, prejudgment interest 

and other appropriate equitable relief, including the issuance of appropriate declaratory and 

injunctive relief against Health Net and its removal as a fiduciary, for its violation of ERISA. 

COUNT II 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE FULL & FAIR REVIEW 
AS REQUIRED BY ERISA 

212. The allegations contained above are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

213. Health Net functions as the “plan administrator” within the meaning of such terms 

under ERISA for Plaintiffs and the Class.  Plaintiffs and the Class are therefore entitled to 

receive a “full and fair review” of all claims denied by Health Net, and they are entitled to assert 

a claim under ERISA § 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) for a failure to comply with these 

requirements. 
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214. Although Health Net was obligated to do so, Health Net failed to provide a “full 

and fair review” of denied claims pursuant to ERISA § 503, 29 U.S.C. § 1133 (and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder) for Plaintiffs and the Class by, inter alia, making ONET 

ABDs that are inconsistent with the terms of Plaintiffs’ EOCs and SPDs, and by failing to 

disclose the “specific reasons” for ONET ABDs, as well as by failing to disclose data and/or the 

methodology it relied on in making ONET ABDs. 

215. The law and implementing regulations set forth minimum standards for claim 

procedures, appeals, notice to beneficiaries, and the like.  In engaging in the conduct described 

herein, including systematic reimbursement reductions without disclosure or contractual 

authorization, Health Net failed to comply with the law, federal regulations and federal common 

law. 

216.  Health Net misrepresented facts to beneficiaries in appeals, thereby violating 

federal law. 

217. In discouraging appeals, such as by describing them as virtually “impossible” to 

win, Health Net further failed to comply with the law, federal regulations and federal common 

law. 

218. The consequences of Health Net’s failure to comply with the law and regulations 

(as well as federal common law) are that Health Net failed to provide a “full and fair review,” 

failed to provide reasonable claims procedures, and failed to make required disclosures. 

219. Beneficiaries’ appeals are deemed exhausted by virtue, inter alia, of the invalid 

database and Health Net’s failure to provide reasonable claims procedures.  Any appeal would 

have been futile, and is deemed futile. 
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220. Plaintiffs and the Class have been harmed by Health Net’s failure to provide a 

“full and fair review” of appeals submitted by Plaintiffs and the Class under  ERISA § 503, 29 

U.S.C. § 1133, and by Health Net’s failure to disclose information relevant to beneficiaries’ 

benefits in violation of ERISA and the federal common law.  Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled 

to statutory penalties, and injunctive and declaratory relief to remedy Health Net’s continuing 

violation of these provisions. 

 

COUNT III 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE AN ACCURATE 
SPD AND REQUIRED DISCLOSURE 

221. The allegations contained above are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

222. Health Net’s disclosure obligations under ERISA include furnishing accurate 

materials summarizing its group health plans, known as SPD materials, under ERISA § 102, 29 

U.S.C. § 1022, and supplying additional information to beneficiaries, such as Plaintiffs and the 

Class, under ERISA § 104(b)(4), 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4). 

223. Health Net’s failure to supply accurate SPDs and requested information is 

redressable under ERISA § 502(c), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c). 

224. Health Net’s failure to disclose material information about its ONET ABDs; its 

use of invalid Ingenix Data; and its material changes in reimbursement policy violate ERISA, 

federal regulations and federal common law which obligates fiduciaries such as Health Net to 

provide such information to beneficiaries. 
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225. Plaintiffs and the Class have been proximately harmed by Health Net’s failure to 

comply with federal regulations and the federal common law and with ERISA § 102, 29 U.S.C. § 

1022 and with ERISA § 104(b)(4), 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4), in an amount to be determined at 

trial, and are also entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief to remedy Health Net’s continuing 

violation of these provisions. 

COUNT IV 

VIOLATION OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES OF LOYALTY AND DUE CARE 

226. The allegations contained above are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

227. Health Net acted as fiduciary to Plaintiffs and the Class in connection with 

beneficiaries’ group health plans, as such term is understood under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1002(21)(A). 

228. As fiduciary of group health plans under ERISA, Health Net owes beneficiaries in 

such plans a duty of care, defined as an obligation to act prudently, with the care, skill, prudence 

and diligence that a prudent administrator would use in the conduct of an enterprise of like 

character.  Further, fiduciaries must ensure that they are acting in accordance with the documents 

and instruments governing the plan.  ERISA § 404(a)(1)(B) and (D), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B) 

and (D).  In failing to act prudently, and in failing to act in accordance with the documents and 

instruments governing the plan, Health Net violated its fiduciary duty of care. 

229. As a fiduciary of a group health plans under ERISA, Health Net owes 

beneficiaries a duty of loyalty, defined as an obligation to make decisions in the interest of 

beneficiaries, and to avoid self-dealing or financial arrangements that benefit the fiduciary at the 
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expense of beneficiaries.  ERISA § 406, 29 U.S.C. § 1106.  Health Net cannot, for example, 

make benefit determinations for the purpose of saving money at the expense of beneficiaries. 

230. Health Net violated its fiduciary duty of loyalty by, inter alia, making ONET 

ABDs that were unauthorized by EOCs and SPDs which benefited Health Net at the expense of 

beneficiaries; by failing to inform beneficiaries of flaws in the Ingenix databases that make their 

use inappropriate to calculate UCR reimbursement; by making representations about ONET 

benefits that were untrue; by failing to pay interest; by changing rules without disclosure; acting 

dishonestly to the court and regulators; failing to properly credit deductible and OOP 

maximums; violating mental health parity laws (such as New Jersey); failing to remedy known 

violations of law and by engaging in dishonest conduct. 

231. Health Net also violated its fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs and the Class by denying 

that its “Summary of Benefits” function as SPDs required by federal law.  Health Net’s position 

that employers are responsible to produce SPDs constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty.  Health 

Net knows that the required information is in Health Net’s exclusive possession and control.  

Health Net knew and intended that its “Summary of Benefits” would be considered by 

employers and beneficiaries as an SPD. 

232. Health Net itself treated the Summary of Benefits as an SPD and is estoppel from 

denying that it is an SPD. 

233.  Health Net’s EOBs is in violation of federal law and breach its fiduciary duty. 

234. Plaintiffs are entitled to assert a claim for relief for Health Net’s violation of its 

fiduciary duties under ERISA § 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3), including restitution, 

injunctive and declaratory relief, and its removal as a breaching fiduciary. 
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COUNT V 

VIOLATION OF CLAIMS PROCEDURE PROVISIONS 

235. The allegations contained above are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth 

herein. 

236. Health Net is an insurance company subject to regulation under the insurance 

laws of more than one state.  Health Net must therefore comply with claims procedures defined 

by federal law (e.g., 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1).  Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to seek 

judicial relief if an insurance company fails to comply with federal law. 

237. Health Net has breached its obligations to Plaintiffs and the Class to process 

claims fairly by, inter alia, making ONET ABDs without complying with the federal regulation 

requirements requiring EOCs, SPDs, EOBs, appeals or disclosure generally. 

238. As a proximate cause of its violation of such regulations, Plaintiffs and the Class 

have been harmed by Health Net, and are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as 

other equitable relief, including Health Net’s removal as a fiduciary. 

239. As a consequence of violating such regulations and otherwise engaging in the 

conduct herein alleged, administrative remedies are deemed futile as a matter of law, and 

exhaustion provides no legal defense. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

  WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment in their favor against Health Net as 

follows: 

  A.  Declaring that Health Net has violated its fiduciary duties including the 

duties of loyalty and care to Plaintiffs and the Class, and awarding appropriate relief, including 
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civil penalties, restitution, interest, declaratory and injunctive relief to Plaintiffs and the Class, 

and removing Health Net as a fiduciary which has systemically breached its fiduciary 

obligations; 

  B.  Declaring that Health Net has breached the terms of applicable contracts 

of insurance and awarding unpaid benefits to Plaintiffs and the Class, as well as awarding 

injunctive and declaratory relief based on Health Net’s use of ONET ABDs unauthorized by 

EOCs and SPDs; 

  C.  Declaring that Health Net has breached the terms of beneficiary EOCs and 

SPDs by lowering reimbursement in the undisclosed and unauthorized ways detailed herein, and 

awarding monetary, declaratory and injunctive relief to remedy such breaches;  

  D.  Enjoining Health Net from violating state laws and ordering remedial 

relief for its past violations of state law, including regarding ER and mental health parity; 

  E.  Enjoining its use of unlawful EOBs which violate federal and state law; 

  F.  Declaring that Health Net has failed to provide a “full and fair review” to 

Plaintiffs and the Class under ERISA § 503, 29 U.S.C. § 1133, and awarding compensatory, 

injunctive, declaratory and other equitable relief to Plaintiffs and the Class to ensure compliance 

with ERISA and ERISA regulations; 

  G. Declaring that Health Net has violated its disclosure obligations under 

ERISA and the federal common law, including under § 104(b)(4), 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4) and 

ERISA § 102, 29 U.S.C. § 1022, for which Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to statutory 

penalties, injunctive, declaratory and other equitable relief; 
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  H. Declaring that Health Net has violated federal claims procedures, and 

awarding Plaintiffs and the Class declaratory and injunctive relief to remedy such violations; 

  I.   Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Health Net from using the 

Ingenix Databases, or from making UCR determinations in the absence of proper or reliable data 

substantiating the lesser amounts; 

  J.  Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Health Net from using Outdated Data; 

  K.  Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Health Net from applying ONET 

ABDs where the beneficiaries’ EOCs and SPDs do not authorize them; 

  L.  Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Health Net from discouraging 

appeals and/or making appeals virtually impossible to win; 

  M.  Preliminary and permanently enjoining Health Net from discouraging 

ONET care or placing undisclosed obstacles in the path of beneficiaries seeking to access ONET 

care; 

  N.  Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class the costs and disbursements of this 

action, including reasonable counsel fees, costs and expenses in amounts to be determined by the 

Court; 

  O. Awarding interest from date of initial ONET ABD on all unpaid amounts; 

  P.  Awarding prejudgment interest; and 

  Q.  Granting such other and further relief as is just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiffs demand trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Dated:   January 10, 2005 
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       Respectfully submitted, 
 
SILLS CUMMIS EPSTEIN & GROSS, 
P.C. 

       One Riverfront Plaza 
       Newark, New Jersey 07102 
       (973) 643-7000 

       _____s/Barry M. Epstein  
        Barry M. Epstein, Esq. 
        (BE-6027) 
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       POMERANTZ HAUDEK BLOCK 
 GROSSMAN & GROSS LLP 

       100 Park Avenue 
New York, New York 10017 

        D. Brian Hufford, Esq. 
        (DH-8171, admitted pro hac vice) 

       THE CUNEO LAW GROUP, P.C. 
       317 Massachusetts Avenue, NE 
       Suite 300 
       Washington, D.C. 20002 

       THE ALPERT LAW FIRM, P.A. 
       401 E. Jackson Street, Suite 1825 
       Tampa, FL 33602 

       Counsel for Plaintiffs and the 
       Putative Class 
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